3  –  Owners of land in Rutland and their holdings

The population of Rutland as given in the 1871 Census was 22,073. The Return records an overall total of 1,425 owners, broadly representing 6.5% of the Census figure, rather above the national average of 5.1%. However, it is possible to refine this calculation to a degree. Of the 564 named owners of one acre and above 53 were corporate owners (see Table 3) and 193 – over a third – were individuals resident in other counties, leaving 318 individual owners with Rutland addresses. To these should be added the 861 unnamed owners of less than one acre: one has to assume that the great majority of these were locally resident. Leaving aside the minimal effect of potential errors and known discrepancies in addresses in the Return, the number of individual resident owners may thus be more realistically calculated as some 1,179, or about 5.3% of the county’s population. A national comparison would require similar calculations for every other county, but it does seem that the ownership ratio for Rutland is higher than that for most other counties.

Geographical distribution
It comes as no surprise, perhaps, that (using uncorrected figures) most neighbouring counties are well represented, with 54 owners in Lincolnshire (including 24 in Stamford, adjoining Rutland’s eastern boundary – though one or two of these were actually Rutland residents), 43 in Leicestershire (including twelve in Leicester itself), seventeen in Northamptonshire and eight in Cambridgeshire, though Nottinghamshire only musters two. Likewise one might expect a fair representation of London addresses, and of these there are 22 including two railway companies, the Dean and Chapter of Westminster and the Ecclesiastical Commissioners. As shown in Table 8, other counties, from Co Durham in the north to Devon in the south-west or Pembrokeshire in Wales to Kent in the south-east, mostly produce only one or two. It should be recognised that these addresses in other counties mask the true picture: to take but one example, Westley Richards may have an address in Birmingham – by this date he had succeeded his father as head of the famous gun-making firm (as Bateman (1883, 520) says, ‘name dear to lovers of the trigger’) – but local directories show that the Rutland estate referred to was at Ashwell. In fact, as noted later, quite a high proportion of the larger landowners have addresses beyond the county boundary. We should also remember that, as already pointed out, some of the county attributions are inaccurate, but the figures in Table 8 are based on the entries in the Return and have not been amended to reflect those errors that have been noticed.

There is, however, one particularly unusual element in the distribution of landowners’ addresses, namely a nucleus of eighteen in the relatively distant county of Gloucestershire, of which thirteen are in Chipping Campden, with others nearby in Worcestershire as well as a few strays elsewhere. The nature of these entries, as discussed below, suggests that the explanation may be found in links with the land-owning Noel family.

The Return indicates that Rutland comprised 58 parishes; there is no list of these in the Return but they are taken to include Beaumont Chase and Leighfield (the latter described by Barker as an extra-parochial liberty in the Soke of Oakham) as well as Witchley Warren (not in fact a parish, since it is part of Edith Weston, although there is one entry for it, that for Thomas Woods (557)) and Thorpe-by-Water which is actually a hamlet in Seaton parish. The total should thus be 56. It is assumed that other subsidiary settlements are counted within the relevant parish (eg Barleythorpe within Oakham, Belmesthorpe within Ryhall). There are no entries for eight parishes, Beaumont Chase, Egleton, Horn, Martinsthorpe, Pickworth, Tickencote, Tixover and Wardley. 
In this context, it is important to remember the influence of the major landowners and their sole ownership of some parishes (Table 00). Again one must emphasise that an owner’s address is no certain indicator of the whereabouts of his land: for instance, J T Springthorpe (478), who farmed at Gunthorpe, could hardly have held land in that parish since it was wholly owned by Lord Aveland, so his 67 acres probably lay in adjoining Manton, where Harrod shows him as an owner. Likewise, Edward Preston (392), a farmer in the closed parish of Stretton, may by implication have had his 12 acres elsewhere.
Generally speaking, the greatest numbers of landowners are found in the largest parishes, particularly the 
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Table 9. Counties in which named Rutland 

landowners were recorded as resident.

Notes:
1: 42 corporate owners (Tables 2 & 3);

2: including two corporate owners in Stamford;

3: four corporate owners; 4: three corporate owners;

5: one corporate owner. 

Total of corporate owners: 53 (Table 3).

Table 10. Numbers of landowners shown as

resident in each Rutland parish.

Notes:
1: including six corporate owners;

2: three corporate owners; 3: two corporate owners;

4: one corporate owner. 

Total of corporate owners (including Rectors and Vicars): 42 (Table 3).

†  Indicates one or more named resident clergy identified as such (ie, other than unnamed Rectors or Vicars), 

the high number at Uppingham reflecting

 the presence of ordained schoolmasters.

*  Two Luffenham owners, Mr Nevile (346) and William Robinson (433), are not specifically assigned to either North or South Luffenham; Wm Robinson is likely to be a North Luffenham farmer (various directories).
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towns of Oakham (39) and especially Uppingham (49). This surely reflects the extent of owner-occupation in an urban context, and would no doubt have been all the more pronounced had the owners of less than one acre been presented in the same way. Significant numbers are also listed in Belton (22) and Lyddington (26 – see below and Table 11), and to a lesser degree in other moderately sized villages such as Ketton (15), Morcott (14) and Ryhall (12). However, as Table 9 demonstrates, other reasonably large places have proportionately much lower figures, such as Cottesmore and Edith Weston (four each), and notably Empingham, Essendine and Great Casterton (only one each). It is hard to know without much further investigation parish by parish to what extent these apparent discrepancies reflect the avowed difficulties in collecting and collating the information or genuinely indicate the pattern of landownership in such parishes, but it would appear that the figures are much affected by the existence of great estates whose land holdings are grouped together (as demonstrated in Tables 4 & 5), or of landowners resident elsewhere (Table 10). Certainly if the corporate owners, especially ecclesiastical or parish owners, were put aside, a high proportion of Rutland’s parishes would appear to have no other individual resident landowners at all; the single landowners listed for Empingham (largely owned by Lord Aveland and E H C Monckton), Essendine (by J A Hankey) and Great Casterton (by the Marquess of Exeter), cited above, were respectively the Rev T L Cooper who was successively vicar and then rector, the Stamford & Essendine Railway Company, and the rector, each with only a small acreage.

The clergy

It may seem invidious to single out the clergy for special attention, but we have already seen that a number of clergy are included as corporate land-owners (thirteen in all, including the rector of St John’s, Stamford, and the vicars of Kirby Bellars and Plungar, Leicestershire). Indeed, since one might be forgiven for expecting them to be readily identified from other sources such as local directories and Longden’s Northamptonshire & Rutland Clergy (1938-42/1952), the clergy might be thought to provide a valid test of the reliability of the Return. If anything, however, such a study seems to point more to the limitations of Longden’s work as a comprehensive account since a surprising number do not seem to appear there. It is in fact contemporary directories such as Harrod and Barker which are most useful in naming the incumbent of each parish, recording changes of incumbency, showing both non-resident incumbents and curates in charge, and indicating that a clergyman resident or owning land in a parish might not necessarily be its incumbent. 
Besides corporate incumbents, something like 55 other clergy are named as such in the Return, of whom fifteen, including Archdeacon Paul at Stamford (376), do not have Rutland addresses. Their number is such that Bateman (1883, 527) was led to comment that ‘Names with the clerical prefix are thickest in Northampton, Leicester and Rutland, where about one in five of my yeomen is a cleric’. The exact number is hard to define: not all seem to be credited with their clerical status, and besides the Fludyer/Hudyer duplication there is another case where the same individual almost certainly appears twice, namely the Rev B Brown (54) and the Rev T B Brown (60), both of Normanton. Only Thomas Bentley Brown, vicar, appears in Longden, in directories and in the 1871 Census; he had been curate (1857) and then rector (1858) of Pilton, served as curate to the Rev T K Bonney of Normanton, and then became long-serving rector of that parish (1863-97) and domestic chaplain to Lord Aveland (Reeve 2009). However, the Rev W[illiam] J Earle (147), Usher of Uppingham School since 1850, of Brookland, London Road, is distinguished from the Rev Walter Earle (148), also of Uppingham, an Old Boy and shown in Harrod as assistant master, the Schools, High Street. Here it is appropriate to note that, as can be gleaned from the directories but evidently not appreciated by Bateman, the apparent excess of clergy in Uppingham seems entirely due to the presence of ordained schoolmasters on the Rev Edward Thring’s staff. Comparison of the Return with the Uppingham School Roll (1906) shows besides Thring himself (498) and the two Earles, those who counted as owners included the Rev George Christian (88), of Ayston Road, Chaplain, the Rev R J Hodgkinson (247), of West End, Master of the Lower School, and the Rev W F Witts (555), of London Road. As Richardson points out (2006, 195 and 211), at this time and for some time to come housemasters had to buy their boarding houses themselves, which probably accounts for at least some of these entries. However, none of the other masters, ordained or not, figure in the Return.

Not all clergy are shown as men of the cloth in the Return, but are identifiable as incumbents in the directories, such as [the Rev] F J Freeman (172), vicar of Manton, who – to complicate matters – ‘resides at Uppingham’ (Barker), and [the Rev] H L L Wingfield (552), rector of Market Overton. Conversely, the Rev T Heathcote (240), vicar of Lenton, Lincolnshire, may be the Thomas Heathcote Esq shown by Harrod as a Pilton landowner, since his relative Lord Aveland is the other principal landowner named by Harrod.

At Burley, Glaston and Morcott two clergy are named. At Burley, the Rev W Gay (192) was the vicar and the other, the Rev Edward Bradley (50), was to become rector of Stretton (1871-83) and adopted the pen-name of Cuthbert Bede (Rutland Record 8, 261). Glaston was in the cure of the Rev Barnard Smith (468) – who is believed to have been actively buying land during his incumbency (inf Auriol Thomson), so that his estate of 153 acres is perhaps more likely to represent personal property than tithe land, but the Rev W L Fowke (171), vicar of Barkestone, Leicestershire, from 1860-72 and then of Bisbrooke from 1872-87, resided there too and had 94 acres. Since the vicar of Bisbrooke is also listed as a corporate incumbent (513: 5ac), Mr Fowke’s 94 acres also seem likely to have been personal property. The rector of Morcott was the Rev G W Monteath (329), while the Rev J G Lonsdale (312) whose address was in the parish was actually rector of South Luffenham. The Rev C Boys, with an address at Stretton, was rector of Wing in 1870 (Harrod). At Caldecott the resident vicar, the Rev ‘F W’ [recte T W] Gilham (194), appears both as an individual and as corporate incumbent. He was also vicar of Lyddington, and in fact the Rev Hugh Bryan (64), with a Norfolk address, was his curate there at the time (see below). The Rev C J Drake, vicar of Barrowden, resided across the river Welland at Wakerley – an instance of a united benefice straddling not only the water but also the county boundary.
Some of these apparent discrepancies between incumbency and place of residence may indicate personal preference, especially where parishes were adjacent or nearly so. Occasionally they may simply reflect the lack of a suitable house: the Rev Barnard Smith had lived in Preston until his rectory at Glaston had been rebuilt (inf Auriol Thomson). We can also see that whilst some clergy were relatively mobile, going from one appointment to another (especially perhaps as curates), others such as the Rev T B Brown at Normanton were to remain in the same parish for decades. 

The Rev William Jones, vicar of Kirby Bellars (515), held 15 acres in Rutland: White (1877) explains that this land was in Uppingham parish. As to other out-of-county clergy, the Rev W Hopkinson (251), of Great Gidding, Cambridgeshire, was rector of Great Casterton and Pickworth. The Rev C H Newmarch (350), rector of Wardley with Belton, was non-resident, having family connections with Gloucestershire, an address at ‘Bristow’, and a curate-in-charge in his Rutland parishes: but according to Longden he still managed ten years or so as rural dean in Rutland. The Rev W Turner of Barholm, Lincolnshire, may perhaps be identified with the ‘Rev — Turnor’ noted by Harrod as a chief landowner in Tixover.

If then such complications arise with a small if discrete selection of owners, it may be expected that similar uncertainties might arise with the main body of entries: only further researches would reveal their extent.

Other occupations
Although the Return itself contains minimal information about the occupations of those it names, we can use directories such as Harrod and Barker and White to establish a simple picture of the range of occupations they followed. Comprehensive searching through Census returns and other sources could amplify this to some extent, as the study of Lyddington (below) will show. Geographically, these entries are scattered across the county, their distribution being affected by the numbers of people listed in each parish, so that it is not meaningful to make more than the most general comment. The range of occupations identified, including a number from adjoining counties (especially in Stamford, Lincolnshire), is summarised in Table 11.

A certain number of those listed pursued no formal occupation, no doubt because they did not wish and did not need to do so, due perhaps to their social standing and economic position. Besides the clergy, amongst them those ordained men serving as masters at Uppingham School, several other professional men – doctors and bankers amongst them – can be found, and there are also one or two slightly unusual occupations such as the matron of the Oakham workhouse (386) and a travelling tea dealer (523). However, as one would expect, the great majority of the readily identifiable occupations are associated directly or indirectly with agriculture. Most are farmers and/or graziers, some of them also being butchers, and there is even one cottager, but there are also millers and maltsters, sometimes in combination with farming, as well as corn merchants – one of whom also traded in manure. Increasing mechanisation on the farm is reflected in the existence of a machine owner (63). We may note the two market gardeners at Braunston, too (13, 165). Others follow the trades such as blacksmithing or carpentry that supported rural life, or work in the catering and retail trades as drapers or grocers, and it is worth pointing out that although few such occupations are represented by more than one or two individuals there are more than a dozen brewers, innkeepers, publicans and beersellers, as if the ownership of land was more important to them in sustaining their businesses. In a number of cases we find people following more than one occupation, so that distinctions become blurred: shoemaker and postmaster (395); shopkeeper and bricklayer (481); stone merchant and farmer (359); innkeeper, plumber and glazier (108). Finally, it is worth observing that the five coal merchants or agents are 

	Professions

	   Banker (149, 224)
	2

	   Clergy other than schoolmaster (passim)
	55

	   Land agent (180)
	1

	   Ordained schoolmaster 

(88, 147-8, 247, 498, 555)
	6

	   Politician/MP (2, 15, 36, 163, 164, 187, 356)
	7

	   Solicitor &c (62, 280, 379, 460, 492-3)
	6

	   Surgeon (285, 429, 506)
	3

	   Surveyor (424) & auctioneer &c (423-4)
	3

	

	Farming-related

	   Farmer and/or grazier (passim)
	98

	   Farmer/grazier and/or butcher 

(22, 61, 215, 264, 475, 484, 496)
	7

	   Farmer & innkeeper (523)
	1

	   Farmer & maltster (122, 261, 340, 433)
	4

	   Farmer & miller (271, 313)
	2

	   Farmer, miller & baker (308)
	1

	   Farmer & stone merchant (359)
	1

	   Farmer or maltster, corn & coal merchant (34)
	1

	   Farmer or carpenter  or wheelwright (122, 211)
	2

	   Cattle dealer (455)
	1

	   Cottager (80)
	1

	   Machine owner (63)
	1

	   [Market] gardener (13)
	1

	   [Market] gardener & grazier (165)
	1

	   Maltster, brewer, coal & lime merchant (334, 336)
	2

	   Miller (204)
	1

	   Miller & maltster (520)
	1

	

	Brewing & innkeeping

	   Beer retailer (174, 461, 495-6)
	3

	   Brewer (1, 24, 75, 332, 334) & maltster (265)
	6

	   Innkeeper (9, 111, 270, 283, 364, 530, 539)
	7

	   Innkeeper & bricklayer (28)
	1

	   Innkeeper, victualler, plumber & glazier (108)
	1


	Retail trades

	   Baker & grocer (141)
	1

	   Baker, grocer & draper (462)
	1

	   Blacksmith (497, 558)
	2

	   Blacksmith & dragrake maker (483)
	1

	   Boot & shoe maker (188)
	1

	   Chemist & druggist, & corn, seed & manure merchant (548)
	1

	   Carpenter and/or wheelwright (5, 272, 320)
	4

	   Cooper (26)
	1

	   Draper, tailor, clothier (198,426,  426, 466)
	4

	   Grocer or blacksmith (471)
	1

	   Grocer or carpenter (556)
	1

	   Grocer & ironmonger (133)
	1

	   Grocer & seed & [cattle] cake merchant (228, 449)
	1

	   Saddler (439)
	1

	   Shoemaker & postmaster (395)
	1

	   Shopkeeper (384) & bricklayer (481)
	2

	   Watchmaker (117)
	1

	

	Other trades

	   Bricklayer & stonemason (106)
	1

	   Builder (81, 445)
	2

	   Coal merchant (309, 443)
	2

	   Currier & leather dresser (284)
	1

	   Fellmonger (105/6)
	1

	   Gunmaker (422)
	1

	   Limeburner (103)
	1

	   Quarry owner (357)
	1

	   Stonemason & engraver (101)
	1

	   Timber merchant (56)
	1

	

	Sundry occupations

	   Matron of workhouse & schoolmistress (386)
	1

	   Postmistress (191)
	1

	   Registrar & insurance agent (418)
	1

	   Travelling tea dealer (532)
	1


Table 11. Types of occupation identified for individuals in Rutland and adjoining counties in the Return. 

Note that there is some overlap between the broad categories but no duplication of entries 

(eg, the ‘farmer & innkeeper’ is counted as a farmer and does not appear again as an innkeeper).

all placed suitably close to the developing railway network, at Market Overton (34), Ketton (69), Whissendine (309), Oakham (334) and Caldecott (443), so that onward transport from the sidings might not have been too challenging. Of these, W C & C K Morris in Oakham dealt not only in lime and coal but also ran the brewery: both trades benefited from the easier method of transportation that the railways provided.

Out of county owners
We have already seen that in the Return there are over 200 owners whose addresses are given as in counties other than Rutland (though some of these attributions have been shown above to be inaccurate). Most of them owned quite small quantities of land and to identify every such owner would require extensive research coupled with a measure of good fortune (as demonstrated by the case of the Chipping Campden group, below), but 34 individuals (including three who actually lived in Rutland) had over 100 acres, as shown in Table 10. Many of these names are familiar to Rutland historians, but others are less so and therefore it seems appropriate to identify at least some of their associations with the county.

Harrod’s 1870 Directory is particularly useful in this context in that he names chief landowners and lords of the manor for nearly every parish. Taken together with VCH Rutland II (1935) and its extensive – though not always wholly accurate – accounts of manorial descent we can therefore point to most of these associations with some confidence.

	No
	Name
	Address in Return
	Acres
	Rutland parish associations (acreages from VCH II)

	
	
	
	
	

	2
	Sir C B Adderley *
	London
	322
	The Hall, Uppingham (Barker); = Lord Norton 1878

	30
	William Belgrave
	Maydwell, Northants
	612
	Preston – half the parish (1,207ac); Rev Wm Belgrave rector (Harrod), d by 1875 (Barker); advowson since 1734, lived at Preston Hall/House (VCH II 91)

	43
	William Blake *
	[Danesbury], Welwyn
	317
	not traced in this study

	52
	Sir W de Capell Brooke (3rd Bt) *
	[Great Oakley], Market Harborough
	533
	Martinsthorpe – whole parish (539ac)

(Harrod; VCH II 85)

	64
	Rev Hugh Bryan
	Hilgay, Norfolk

[Lyddington, Rutland]
	183
	Resident at and family property in Lyddington (directories, 1871 Census: see discussion)

	138
	Henry de Stafford [O’Brien-Stafford] *
	[Blatherwyke Park], Wansford, Northants
	562
	Tixover – two-thirds of the parish (842ac) (Harrod); in family since 1679 (VCH II, 228) 

	149
	Charles Ormiston Eaton
	Stamford, Lincs

[Tolethorpe, Rutland]
	331
	Resident at Tolethorpe Hall, Little Casterton

1867-1907 (VCH II 237f)

	155
	Marquess of 
Exeter *
	Stamford, Lincs

[Burghley House]
	10,712
	Principal county landowner: see Table 4 for estates; Bateman gives 8,998ac

	221
	John A Hankey *
	London
	1,388
	Essendine - whole parish (1,477ac) (Harrod); 
VCH failed to trace manorial descent after 1811

	240
	Francis Heathcote
	London
	324
	not traced in this study

	241
	Rev T Heathcote
	Lenton, Lincs
	144
	Vicar of Lenton; ?Pilton (Harrod)

	278
	John Jackson
	Hampstead
	178
	?Manton (land in the parish from early 18th century: VCH II, 81)

	293
	Edward Sherard Calcraft Kennedy
	London
	1,950
	Illegitimate 3rd son of 6th Earl of Harborough (d 1859: VCH II, 154; O’Brien & Johnson 2000), from whom he inherited the manor of Teigh (1,288ac); other 700ac probably in Whissendine; see discussion, p10.

	307
	Thomas Laxton
	Watford, Hunts [sic]
	368
	not traced in this study

	311
	Henry, 3rd Earl of Lonsdale *
	London
	493
	Col Henry Lowther owns land at Barleythorpe and Glaston (Harrod); succeeds to title 1872

	318
	John Mannering
	Nottingham
	201
	not traced in this study

	333
	E H C Monckton *
	Fineshade Abbey
	2,183
	Estates in Belton, Glaston, Lyddington, Seaton (Table 5)

	337
	W R Morris
	Worcester
	169
	North Luffenham (Harrod); his widow had important collection of Rutland Anglo-Saxon cemetery material (VCH I 96-8)

	342
	Thomas Myers
	Gretton, Northants
	144
	not traced in this study

	354
	Horace Noel
	Folkestone, Kent
	206
	not traced in this study

	357
	Lord Northwick *
	Moreton-in-Marsh
	1,885
	Ketton – over half the parish (3,338ac) (VCH II 257f)

	382
	Henry B Pierrepont
	Chippenham, Gloucs
	1,178
	Ryhall – two fifths of the parish (2,680ac) (VCH II 271f)

	383
	William Ann 
Pochin *
	Edmondthorpe Hall
	392
	not traced in this study

	408
	John Rawson
	Bradford, Yorks
	160
	not traced in this study

	422
	Westley Richards
	Birmingham
	1,504
	Ashwell – most of the parish (1,835ac) (VCH II 109)

	429
	Dr W E Robbs
	Stamford
	124
	Tinwell (Harrod)

	437
	George Dawson Rowley *
	Brighton, Sussex
	362
	Morcott (VCH II 208); 

High Sheriff 1870 (Harrod)

	442
	Duke of Rutland *
	Belvoir Castle, Leics
	761
	Bisbrooke – two-thirds of the parish (1,144ac) (Harrod)

	462
	O N Simpson (Trustees)
	Stamford
	328
	not traced in this study

	470
	Charles Smith
	Leicester
	177
	?Braunston (Harrod)

	492
	Richard Thompson
	Stamford
	1,103
	Little Casterton – most of the parish (1,227ac) (Harrod); later bought manor of Teigh (VCH II 184)

	507
	Rev W Turner
	Barholm, Lincs
	241
	?Tixover (Harrod)

	531
	G L Watson *
	Rockingham Castle
	95
	Caldecott (Harrod)

	554
	J H L Wingfield *
	Stamford

[Tickencote, Rutland]
	2,896
	Resident at Tickencote (Harrod); other estates at Empingham and Market Overton (Table 5)


Table 12. Owners of over 100 acres with non-Rutland addresses in the Return; * = listed in Bateman (1883). 

Note that three of them (Hugh Bryan, C O Eaton and J H L Wingfield) were in fact resident in the county.
Bateman, too, although compiling his work ten years later than the Return and including details, summarised in Table 10, of only a small proportion of Rutland landowners, helps by placing some of them in a wider, national, context. He also makes the point (1883, 519-21) that ‘Rutlandshire folk may be estimable, astute, or both, but somehow they have not managed to keep possession of the acres, of all others (Leicestershire not excepted), most glorious for a fox-hunting gallop’. He follows this with a list of sixteen ‘foreigners’ (many already mentioned above) owning between them nearly 37,000 acres, but he does not necessarily take account of what in some cases were long-established family associations with the county.
Bateman may supply different or more precise home addresses, such as Oakley Hall for Sir William de Capell Brooke (52), Voelas, Denbighshire, rather than Oakham for C A Wynne Finch (162), Brickwall House, Northiam, for Edward Frewen (179), and Aswarby rather than the incorrect Oswarby for Sir Thomas Whichcote, Bt (535). In several cases his entries were compiled after the death of the landowner named in the Return, and there he confirms the next generation in the line of succession. Besides Charles Henry Cust (younger son of the first Earl Brownlow) and W E C Hartopp, already mentioned above, he notes that Arthur Maurice Blake succeeded William Blake (43) in 1875, and that Mrs Hankey (see 221), now of Haywards Heath, was widowed in 1881. Edward Philip Monckton inherited at Fineshade in 1878, Horace de Stafford O’Brien at Blatherwyke in 1880, and John Maurice Wingfield at Tickencote in the same year (Barker shows him as already patron of the living in 1875), while George Fydell Rowley of St Neots followed on from G D Rowley (437) at Morcott in 1878. Lastly, Emma Harriet Wilson, Lady Berners (37) – shown as of Leicester in the Return but actually of Keythorpe Hall – was the niece of the 11th Lord Berners, a Rutland JP (Harrod), who died without issue in 1871; she succeeded to the title as 12th baroness suo jure (the history of the succession of this barony is complicated), and seems to have passed Keythorpe Hall to her eldest (but short-lived) son the Hon Harry Tyrwhitt-Wilson.
Leaving aside the Marquess of Exeter of Burghley (155) and his well-known interest in or ownership of at least eleven Rutland parishes (Table 4), E H C Monckton of Fineshade Abbey (333) with estates in four parishes, and J H L Wingfield (554: in fact of Tickencote, though also described as of Market Overton; Harrod seems to confuse different members of this family) (Table 5), we can see that several of the others were sole owners, or virtually so, of individual parishes: Sir William de Capell Brooke (52: Martinsthorpe); John A Hankey (221: Essendine – apparently unknown to VCH); Edward Sherard Calcraft Kennedy (293: Teigh – see comments on the Countess of Harborough, above); Westley Richards of Birmingham (422: Ashwell); and Richard Thompson (492: Little Casterton, excluding Tolethorpe, owned by C O Eaton (149); later, Thompson bought the manor of Teigh from Calcraft Kennedy). Substantial parts of other parishes were in the hands of individual owners, such as William Belgrave (30: Preston); Henry de Stafford [O’Brien-Stafford] of Blatherwyke Park, near Wansford (138: Tixover); George Rushout-Bowles, 3rd Baron Northwick (357: Ketton); Henry B Pierrepont (382: Ryhall); and the Duke of Rutland (442: Bisbrooke) – it is not often remarked how relatively unimportant the eponymous Dukes and the Manners family were in land-owning terms, at least by this date, compared with the four great Rutland land-owning families of Noel, Heathcote, Cecil and Finch (Table 4). Other members of these families, resident elsewhere, also appear in this list, such as Francis Heathcote (240) and Horace Noel (354), but there is no indication as to where their Rutland lands lay. However, as noted earlier, the Rev T Heathcote (241) may have had land in Pilton.

Many in this group of owners have lengthy antecedents in specific parishes: the Staffords of Blatherwyke (138) acquired Tixover in the late seventeenth century, and the Belgrave family connection with Preston (30) goes back to the early eighteenth century, as does, if correctly identified, the Jackson connection with Manton (278). Of the remainder, it is not always clear what the nature of their association may be. However, even though G D Rowley’s address was given as of Brighton, he maintained sufficient local relationships through his ownership of an estate in Morcott to be both a JP on the Rutland bench and High Sheriff in 1870 (Harrod).

Of those out-of-county owners whose Rutland interests have not been traced in this study, Thomas Myers (342: Gretton, known to have been a parchment maker who died in 1880 – inf Elisabeth Jordan) and the trustees of O N Simpson (462: Stamford) have addresses just beyond the county boundary. So too does William Ann Pochin (383: Edmondthorpe; the family acquired the manor in 1762 (White 1877)). For Thomas Laxton (307: Watford), despite his Rutland surname, we have found no connection, nor have we for John Mannering (318: Nottingham) or John Rawson (408: Bradford).
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